
I. CALL MEETING TO ORDER 

II. ROLL CALL 
A. Invocation 
B. Pledge of Allegiance 
C. Approve the Minutes from February 20 & March 10, 2020 

III. REQUESTS TO ADDRESS THE BOARD ON AGENDA ITEMS (3 Minutes) 

IV. CONSENT AGENDA 
A. BEACH NOURISHMENT - Approve APTIM Coastal Planning & Engineering, Inc. Invoice #491183  

V. PRESENTATIONS 
A. Performance Metrics – Mr. Dan Rowe 
B. FY2019 Audit – Mr. Rich Moreira, CRI   

VI. BOARD ACTION ITEM 
A. TDC USACE 2020 Agreement - Mr. Doug Sale 

VII. DISCUSSION ITEMS 
A. Beach Maintenance and Leave No Trace Update -  Mr. Dan Rowe 
B. Summer Media Plan Update – Ms. Jayna Leach  

VIII. PRESIDENT’S REPORT 

IX. CHAIRMAN’S REPORT 

X. AUDIENCE PARTICIPATION 

XI. ADJOURNMENT 

AGENDA 
COMBINED BOARD MEETING 

Bay County Tourist Development Council 
Panama City Beach Convention & Visitors Bureau, Inc. 

Panama City Beach 
Tuesday, June 09, 2020                                                      9:00 a.m.                     Council Room, PCB City Hall 



TDC/CVB Combined Board Meeting 
Thursday February 20, 2020 

Page 1 of 6

MOTIONS PASSED AT THE COMBINED BOARD MEETING, FEBRUARY 20, 2020 

1. Combined: Approved the minutes from January 14, 2020.  Griffitts/Pease

2. CVB: Approved appointment of ninth Board Member.  Bailey/Griffitts

3. CVB: Approved the election of officers. 
             Chairman:  Griffitts/Pease

      Vice Chairman: Phillips/Chester 
Secretary/Treasurer: Griffitts/Pease

4. Combined: Approved the Consent Agenda: 
Item A - Amend the CVB Purchasing Policy to Allow for Sole Source Purchase of Technical Services 
Item B - Approve APTIM Coastal Planning & Engineering, Inc. Invoice #476770-RI-00636 
Item C - Approve Anchor CEI Invoice #295 and #328 
Item D - Approve CVB Financial Statements for October, November, & December of 2019 
Phillips/Griffitts 

5. Combined: Approved to recommend to the BOCC to maintain the original debt payment schedule as well 
as to reserve the right to exercise either option, to maintain the original payment schedule or the new 
payment schedule, at the recommendation of the TDC/CVB Board. 
Pease/Wilkes 



TDC/CVB Combined Board Meeting 
Thursday February 20, 2020 

Page 2 of 6

COMBINED BOARD MEETING 
Bay County Tourist Development Council 

Panama City Beach Convention & Visitors Bureau, Inc. 
Panama City Beach 

Thursday, February 20, 2020                   9:00 a.m.       Council Room, PCB City Hall 

Board Members Present:
Buddy Wilkes, Chairman  
Phil Chester, Vice Chairman 
Andy Phillips  
Phillip Griffitts, Jr. 
Mike Thomas   
Steve Bailey                                                     
Clair Pease 
Yonnie Patronis, Treasurer 
Gary Walsingham  

Board Members Absent:
NONE 

I. CALL MEETING TO ORDER 

Chairman Buddy Wilkes called the meeting to order at 9:00 a.m. 

II. ROLL CALL 

There were nine members present, zero absent. 

A. Invocation 
Mr. Chester gave the Invocation. 

B. Pledge of Allegiance 
Ms. Pease led the Pledge of Allegiance. 

C. Approve Minutes from January 14, 2020 

Mr. Griffitts moved; seconded by Ms. Pease, to approve the Minutes. 

Motion passed by the following unanimous vote: 
Mr. Phillips  Yes  

                Mr. Thomas  Yes 
                Mr. Chester  Yes  
                Mr. Bailey Yes  
                Mr. Wilkes Yes                           

Mr. Griffitts                                          Yes     
               Mr. Walsingham                                  Yes 
               Ms. Pease                                              Yes 
               Mr. Patronis                                          Yes     



TDC/CVB Combined Board Meeting 
Thursday February 20, 2020 

Page 3 of 6

III. REQUESTS TO ADDRESS THE BOARD ON AGENDA ITEMS (3 Minutes) 
None 

IV. APPOINTMENT OF 9TH BOARD MEMBER 

Mr. Bailey nominated Mr. Phillips as a reappointment of his membership.  Mr. Thomas stated that he thought this 
should be open to outside applications.  He said there were two or three inquiries regarding this position and that 
with a new Mayor coming into his seat, maybe it should be held for open applications.  
Mr. Patronis stated that if there are any other interested parties, he would like to keep the door open. If not, then 
go ahead with the vote for Mr. Phillips.  
Mr. Griffitts asked Mr. Sale if Mr. Phillips could stay in the seat until the new Mayor replaces Mr. Thomas. 
Mr. Bailey stated that he thought Mr. Phillips should be reappointed. 

Mr. Bailey moved; seconded by Mr. Griffitts, to reappoint Mr. Phillips 

Motion passed to reappoint Mr. Phillips by the following unanimous vote: 
Mr. Phillips  Yes  

                Mr. Thomas  Yes 
                Mr. Chester  Yes  
                Mr. Bailey Yes  
                Mr. Wilkes Yes                           

Mr. Griffitts                                          Yes     
               Mr. Walsingham                                  Yes 
               Ms. Pease                                              Yes 
               Mr. Patronis                                          Yes     

V. ELECTION OF OFFICERS 

Appointment of the Chairman: Mr. Chester was nominated by Mr. Griffitts 

Mr. Griffitts moved; seconded by Ms. Pease, to appoint Mr. Chester as Chairman. 

Motion passed by the following unanimous vote: 
Mr. Phillips  Yes  

                Mr. Thomas  Yes 
                Mr. Chester  Yes  
                Mr. Bailey Yes  
                Mr. Wilkes Yes                           

Mr. Griffitts                                          Yes     
               Mr. Walsingham                                  Yes 
               Ms. Pease                                              Yes 
               Mr. Patronis                                          Yes     



TDC/CVB Combined Board Meeting 
Thursday February 20, 2020 

Page 4 of 6

Appointment of the Vice-Chairman: Ms. Pease was nominated by Mr. Phillips.  

Mr. Phillips moved; seconded by Mr. Chester, to appoint Ms. Pease as Vice Chairman. 

Motion passed by the following unanimous vote: 
Mr. Phillips  Yes  

                Mr. Thomas  Yes 
                Mr. Chester  Yes  
                Mr. Bailey Yes  
                Mr. Wilkes Yes                           

Mr. Griffitts                                          Yes     
               Mr. Walsingham                                  Yes 
               Ms. Pease                                              Yes 
               Mr. Patronis                                          Yes     

Appointment of the Secretary/Treasurer: Mr. Patronis was nominated by Mr. Griffitts. 

Mr. Griffits moved; seconded by Ms. Pease, to reappoint Mr. Patronis as Secretary/Treasurer. 

Motion passed by the following unanimous vote: 
Mr. Phillips  Yes  

                Mr. Thomas  Yes 
                Mr. Chester  Yes  
                Mr. Bailey Yes  
                Mr. Wilkes Yes                           

Mr. Griffitts                                          Yes     
               Mr. Walsingham                                  Yes 
               Ms. Pease                                              Yes 
               Mr. Patronis                                          Yes  

VI. CONSENT AGENDA 

Mr. Rowe read the Consent Agenda into the record.  

A. PURCHASING POLICY – Amend the CVB Purchasing Policy to Allow for Sole Source Purchase of 

Technical Services 

B. BEACH NOURISHMENT - Approve APTIM Coastal Planning & Engineering, Inc. Invoice #476770-

RI-00636 

C. SPORTS PARK PROJECT MGT - Approve Anchor CEI Invoice #295 and #328 

D. FINANCIAL STATEMENT – Approve CVB/TDC Financial Statements for October, November, & 

December of 2019 



TDC/CVB Combined Board Meeting 
Thursday February 20, 2020 

Page 5 of 6

                Mr. Phillips moved; seconded by Mr.Griffitts, to approve the Consent Agenda 

Motion passed by the following unanimous vote: 
Mr. Phillips  Yes  

                Mr. Thomas  Yes 
                Mr. Chester  Yes  
                Mr. Bailey Yes  
                Mr. Wilkes Yes                           

Mr. Griffitts                                          Yes     
               Mr. Walsingham                                  Yes 
               Ms. Pease                                              Yes 
               Mr. Patronis                                          Yes   

VII. BOARD ACTION ITEMS 

A. Discuss and consider a recommendation to the Bay County Board of County Commissioners to 
utilize the savings from the refinancing of the Sports Park debt to retire the loan earlier, Mr. 
Dan Rowe 

Mr. Rowe stated that the refinancing of the Sports Park debt gave a savings due to the drop in interest rate from 
about four percent to just over two percent.  He said that the board has the option to either decrease the monthly 
debt payment, or recommend to the Board of County Commissioners to keep the current monthly debt payment 
the same thereby paying off the loan a year and a half early.  Mr. Rowe recommended that the board choose the 
option for the monthly payment to stay the same and pay the debt off early.  This option can be changed at a 
future date if the TDC/CVB Board wishes to change.  

                Ms. Pease moved; seconded by Mr.Wilkes, to recommend to the BOCC to maintain the current debt 
payment schedule as well as to reserve the right to exercise either option, to maintain the original payment 
schedule or the new payment schedule, at any time in the future.  

Motion passed by the following unanimous vote: 
Mr. Phillips  Yes  

                Mr. Thomas  Yes 
                Mr. Chester  Yes  
                Mr. Bailey Yes  
                Mr. Wilkes Yes                           

Mr. Griffitts                                          Yes     
               Mr. Walsingham                                  Yes 
               Ms. Pease                                              Yes 
               Mr. Patronis                                          Yes   

B. Discuss and consider a recommendation to the Bay County Board of County Commissioners to 
expand the TDC’s landscaping service, Mr. Dan Rowe

Mr. Rowe discussed the increase in landscape maintenance needed on CVB/TDC maintained roadways. He stated 
this is necessary to keep the beauty of the beach gateways. Ms. Pease asked if a total scope of work could be attained 
from the company doing the work.  General discussion regarding FDOT maintained areas took place. Mr. Rowe will 
follow up with the FDOT regarding trash pick-up and other eye sore issues. Mr. Phillips asked who oversees the 
landscape company is adhering to the contract with the work they do. Mr. Rowe stated that Mr. Bill Lee oversees 
the work.  
General discussion regarding beach maintenance took place.  Mr. Walsingham and other board members asked for 
a landscape architect plan. Mr. Rowe said he would peruse that plan and bring it back to the board. 



TDC/CVB Combined Board Meeting 
Thursday February 20, 2020 

Page 6 of 6

VIII. DISCUSSION ITEMS 

A. Tourist Development Tax Update, Mr. Dan Rowe 

Mr. Rowe gave a summary of tax collection data.  

B. SPORTS PARK UPDATE, Mr. Dan Rowe 

Mr. Rowe introduced Mr. Cox as the new Sports Park General Manager.  Mr. Cox discussed his transition into his 
new position.  Then Mr. Chris Obrien spoke regarding Mr. Cox as well as the coming events and site visits.  
Other discussion by board members regarding vendors and trailers. Mr. Cox discussed how the vendors was 
handled at his former employer and how the PCB Sports Park can mirror their process. 

C. Indoor Sports/Resiliency Center Update, Mr. Dan Rowe  

Mr. Rowe gave a summary of the status of the indoor facility regarding the grant application. Plans were modified 

to pursue 13.8 million dollars from FEMA to harden the facility.  In addition, the Triumph Gulf Coast application 

was modified to 26.75 million dollars to provide the rest of the funding. A total of 40 million dollar project with the 

ability to expand the facility in the future as needed.  Both applications are progressing.   

In addition to the Indoor Sports Center, Mr. Rowe discussed the “Stay it Forward” initiative, which took over 50 

local residents to Mexico Beach and planted sea oats.  He also discussed future “Stay it Forward” trips that are 

currently planned. He played a video of the initiative that the Marketing team created.  

Ms. Jayna Leach spoke regarding the national news coverage of the initiative and positive response it has received. 

IX. PRESENTATIONS

A. Key Data Platform, Mr. Scott McCloud, Key Data 
Mr. McCloud gave a summary of the background of the Key Data Platform and how it is beneficial to our data 
needs.  He explained how the data is collected and will be available to the board in a variety of reports that are 
customizable to meet their needs.  

B. 2019 Visitor Sentiment, Mr. Berkley Young, Young Strategies 
Mr. Young gave a summary of his report regarding how visitors feel about our destination.  He summarized that 
first impressions make the most impact on visitor perception. 

X. PRESIDENT’S REPORT 

             Mr. Rowe requested to spend up to one hundred thousand dollars be used for building of the Mexico Beach 

visitor center. He stated this was already approved and included in the budget and program of work.  

XI. CHAIRMAN’S REPORT 
None. 

XII. AUDIENCE PARTICIPATION 
None. 

XIII. ADJOURNMENT 

Respectfully submitted, 
Sharon Cook, Recording Secretary 



TDC/CVB Combined Board Meeting 
Tuesday March 10, 2020 

Page 1 of 5

MOTIONS PASSED AT THE COMBINED BOARD MEETING, March 10, 2020 

1. Combined: Approved the Consent Agenda: 
Item A - Approve CVB Financial Statement for January of 2020 
Griffitts/Patronis 

2. Combined: Approved to Decline the Sports Park Naming Rights Counter Proposal and Place a Seven-Day 
Limit for Response.  
Thomas/Phillips 



TDC/CVB Combined Board Meeting 
Tuesday March 10, 2020 

Page 2 of 5

COMBINED BOARD MEETING 
Bay County Tourist Development Council 

Panama City Beach Convention & Visitors Bureau, Inc. 
Panama City Beach 

Tuesday, March 10, 2020                   9:00 a.m.       Council Room, PCB City Hall 

Board Members Present:
Phil Chester, Chairman 
Clair Pease, Vice Chairman 
Andy Phillips  
Phillip Griffitts, Jr. 
Mike Thomas   
Steve Bailey                                                     
Buddy Wilkes        
Yonnie Patronis, Treasurer 

Board Members Absent:
Gary Walsingham   

I. CALL MEETING TO ORDER 

Chairman Phil Chester called the meeting to order at 9:00 a.m. 

II. ROLL CALL 

There were eight members present, one absent. 

A. Invocation 
Mr. Wilkes gave the Invocation. 

B. Pledge of Allegiance 
Ms. Pease led the Pledge of Allegiance. 

III. REQUESTS TO ADDRESS THE BOARD ON AGENDA ITEMS (3 Minutes) 
None 

IV. CONSENT AGENDA 

Mr. Rowe read the Consent Agenda into the record.  

A. FINANCIAL STATEMENT – Approve CVB/TDC Financial Statement January of 2019 



TDC/CVB Combined Board Meeting 
Tuesday March 10, 2020 

Page 3 of 5

                Mr. Griffitts moved; seconded by Mr.Patronis, to approve the Consent Agenda 

Motion passed by the following unanimous vote: 
Mr. Phillips  Yes  

                Mr. Thomas  Yes 
                Mr. Chester  Yes  
                Mr. Bailey Yes  
                Mr. Wilkes Yes                           

Mr. Griffitts                                          Yes     
               Ms. Pease                                              Yes 
               Mr. Patronis                                          Yes   

V. DISCUSSION ITEMS 

A. Tourist Development Tax Update, Mr. Dan Rowe 

Mr. Rowe gave a summary of tax collection data.  

B. SPORTS COMPLEX UPDATE, Mr. Dan Rowe 

Mr. Rowe welcomed Mr. Cox and stated that future bookings are ongoing.  The construction is in the punch list 
phase and will be finished.  The construction of the new Homewood Suites has begun.  Also, the SFM attorney is 
working on the beer and wine sales information and will bring that to the board at a future meeting. 
Ms. Pease asked what the status was for the Royal American naming rights of the park.  Mr. Rowe stated it is still in 
process. He asked Mr. Brown to speak to that topic.  Mr. Brown said Mr. Chapman had counter proposals and that 
he was not happy with the current proposal. Ms. Pease stated that time is of the essence and that this needs to be 
moved.  She asked what was holding up the decision.  Mr. Rowe stated that he has asked for clarification from Mr. 
Chapman because the counter proposal indicated that the naming rights be extended to the indoor sports facility 
when it is built.  This extension was not included in the original agreement approved by the board. In addition, Mr. 
Chapman wants to place a large trailer in the park for activations and not be required to move it on a daily 
basis.  Ms. Pease stated a trailer is not acceptable due to the damage it causes as well as it looking non-
permanent.   
     Mr. Phillips asked if the monument sign at the entrance to the park could be enhanced.  Mr. Rowe stated that 
the sign is the size, and is as far south, as is legally allowed.  He said we will work with St Joe company regarding 
future signage.  
Ms. Pease asked for monthly booking updates as well as food and beverage. Mr. Rowe said Mr. Cox will be 
providing that in the future. 
Mr. Wilkes asked for a time limit for the current negotiations for the sports park naming rights.  Mr. Rowe asked 
the board for guidance to state outright that the naming rights apply only to the current outdoor sports park. 
Mr. Thomas stated that the original contract should be what is adhered to. The board agreed to make a motion to 
accept a contract only as it was originally issued. Moreover, to open the sponsorship to others if Royal American 
doesn’t agree and passes on the agreement.  

Mr. Thomas motioned to decline the counter proposal, going back to the original proposal, and the deadline Royal 
American has to decide is in the next seven days.  Also included was for all tents or other sponsor items be removed 
on a nightly basis.  Seconded by Mr. Phillips.



TDC/CVB Combined Board Meeting 
Tuesday March 10, 2020 

Page 4 of 5

 Mr. Thomas moved; seconded by Mr.Phillips,  

Motion passed by the following unanimous vote: 
Mr. Phillips  Yes  

                Mr. Thomas  Yes 
                Mr. Chester  Yes  
                Mr. Bailey Yes  
                Mr. Wilkes Yes                           

Mr. Griffitts                                          Yes     
               Ms. Pease                                              Yes 
               Mr. Patronis                                          Yes   

C. MARKETING UPDATE, Ms. Jayna Leach, Melonie Sturm, & The Watauga Group  

Ms. Leach discussed changes in the marketing plan due to Covid 19.   Mr. Phillips asked about the questions being 

asked by visitors. He stated that his property has had no drop in reservations.  Ms. Pease agreed regarding her 

property.  Mr. Rowe stated that our market research models are not showing the same positive results.  

The marketing strategy has been developed to strengthen our visitation. Ms. Leach said that our marketing 

strategy is geared toward the drive in market.  Ms. Pease asked if marketing internationally has been cut off.  She 

was told no, not yet. 

Ms. Sturm spoke regarding our media plan.  She said our plan was to focus on the digital marketing as it provides a 

more flexible platform to make changes quickly if needed. She also stated our campaign is focusing to our core 

loyal customers. She also discussed suspending medial should travel restrictions go into effect. 

Ms. Leach stated that through digital media, daily updates would be sent out.  Also, changes can be made quickly 

based on current health advisories. 

VI. PRESENTATIONS

A. Beach Maintenance & Grooming Plan by Coastal Parasail, Mr. Pender 
Mr. Pender discussed the frequency of trash pickup and beach grooming. He suggested increasing the number of 
time of trash pickup during the summer months.  He also stated that additional trash pickup is done on a as 
needed on call basis. Mr. Phillips discussed the cleaning and grooming of the beach should be a top priority and 
could be improved. Mr. Rowe stated that the beach racking is scheduled at 3 miles a day every day and trash is 
picked up twice daily during peak seasons.  Mr. Pender suggested that the vehicles that drive on the beach drag a 
raking device.  Mr. Rowe discussed the different devices are available for use.  Ms. Pease asked if there is funding 
available to get the cleaning done on a regular schedule.  Mr. Rowe and Mr. Pender discussed the trash pickup and 
the limitation due to high number of people on the beach and turtle watch patrol.  Mr. Pender also discussed the 
LNT education patrols reporting trash pickups needed.  He also said that he has several rakes in storage that were 
bought after the Deepwater Horizon oil spill. 
Ms. Pease asked if the rack cards handed out during the education patrols could also list the flag warnings.   
Mr. Phillips discussed increasing the number of patrols as well as signage on the vehicles. 
Discussion regarding beach raking took place. Mr. Rowe suggested increasing the number of rakes on the beach at 
one time.  Mr. Rowe said he will review the current contract and make a suggestion to the County Commission to 
amend the contract to address all issues discussed.  Mr. Rowe also clarified that Mr. Pender’s employees are not 
lifeguards and are not to be expected to act as such.   



TDC/CVB Combined Board Meeting 
Tuesday March 10, 2020 

Page 5 of 5

VII. PRESIDENT’S REPORT 

             Mr. Rowe had three items to discuss: 

 Panama City Beach was named as one of Southern Living’s top ten beaches, coming in at number seven this year. 

That will appear in the April issue of the magazine. 

The 10th anniversary at ECP Airport is coming up. 

Brea Webb is leaving our organization and Katie Griffitts has been hired into that position. 

VIII. CHAIRMAN’S REPORT 
None. 

IX. AUDIENCE PARTICIPATION 
None. 

X. ADJOURNMENT 

Respectfully submitted, 
Sharon Cook, Recording Secretary 





























































1 

COOPERATION AGREEMENT  
BETWEEN 

THE UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 
and 

BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS OF BAY COUNTY, 
FLORIDA 

for 
REHABILITATION OF A FEDERAL EROSION CONTROL AND 

STORM DAMAGE REDUCTION PROJECT

THIS AGREEMENT, entered into this day of  , 2020, by and between 

THE DEPARTMENT OF THE ARMY (hereinafter referred to as the "Government") 

represented by the District Commander, Mobile District, U.S. Army Corps of Engineers, 

and Board of County Commissioners of Bay County, Florida, (hereinafter referred to as 

the "Sponsor"), represented by its Chair of the Board of County Commissioners of Bay 

County.

WITNESSETH THAT:

WHEREAS, the Panama City Beach Erosion Control and Storm Damage Reduction 

Project (hereinafter referred to as the Project) was constructed as authorized by Section 

501 (a) of the Water Resources Development Act of 1986, Public Law 99-662, as 

amended;

WHEREAS, pursuant to 33 U.S.C. 701n, the Government is authorized to assist 

in the repair and restoration of any federally authorized hurricane or shore protective 

structure damaged or destroyed by wind, wave, or  water action of other than an 

ordinary nature;

WHEREAS, via written correspondence, the Public Sponsor has requested  the 

Government to repair or restore the Project which was damaged by wind, wave, or water 

action of an other than an ordinary nature, in accordance with 33 U.S.C. 701n, and 

established policies of the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers; and, 

WHEREAS, the work to be undertaken is described in a report entitled Panama City 

Beach Erosion Control and Storm Damage Reduction Project, Project Information Report 

prepared by the District Engineer, U.S. Army Engineer District Mobile, dated April 2019 and 



2 

approved by the Division Engineer on July 6, 2019; and 

WHEREAS, the Sponsor hereby represents that it has the authority and legal 

capability to furnish the non-Federal cooperation hereinafter set forth and is willing to 

participate in the Project Rehabilitation Effort in accordance with the terms of this 

Agreement;

NOW, THEREFORE, the Government and the Sponsor agree as follows: 

ARTICLE I - DEFINITIONS AND GENERAL PROVISIONS 

For purposes of this agreement: 

A. The term "Rehabilitation Effort" shall mean full restoration of the Project to 

its authorized dimensions of the construction template by placing approximately 

1,580,000 cubic yards of material between Florida Department of Environmental 

Protection monument R-1 and R-33 and R-62 to R-91, as generally described in the 

Panama City Beach Erosion Control and Storm Damage Reduction Project, Project 

Information Report prepared by the District Engineer, U.S. Army Engineer District 

Mobile, dated April 2019 and approved by the Division Engineer on July 6, 2019; 

B. The term "Rehabilitation Effort costs" shall mean all costs incurred by the 

Sponsor and the Government directly related to construction of the Rehabilitation 

Effort. Such term shall include, but is not necessarily be limited to: actual construction 

costs, including supervision and inspection costs; costs of contract dispute 

settlements or awards; and the cost of investigations to identify the existence of 

hazardous substances as identified in Article XIA. The term shall not include any 

costs for operation and maintenance; any costs that correct deferred or deficient 

maintenance; any increased costs for betterments or Sponsor-preferred alternatives; 

periodic nourishment under the project authorization; or the costs of lands, 

easements, rights-of-way, borrow, or relocations. 

C. The term "betterment" shall mean the design and construction of a 



3 

Rehabilitation Effort feature accomplished on behalf of, or at the request of, the 

Sponsor, in accordance with standards that exceed the standards that the 

Government would otherwise apply for accomplishing the Rehabilitation Effort. 

ARTICLE II - OBLIGATIONS OF THE GOVERNMENT AND PUBLIC SPONSOR 

A. The Government, subject to receiving funds appropriated by the Congress 

of the United States shall expeditiously construct the Rehabilitation Effort, applying 

those procedures usually followed or applied in Federal projects, pursuant to Federal 

laws, regulations, and policies. The Sponsor shall be afforded the opportunity to 

review and comment on all solicitations for all contracts, including relevant plans and 

specifications, prior to the issuance of such solicitations. The Contracting Officer will, 

in good faith, consider the comments of the Sponsor, but award of contracts, 

modifications or change orders, and performance of all work on the Rehabilitation 

Effort (whether the work is performed under contract or by Government personnel), 

shall be exclusively within the control of the Contracting Officer. 

B. As further specified in Article III, the Sponsor shall provide all lands, 

easements, and rights-of-way, including suitable borrow and dredged or excavated 

material disposal areas, and perform all relocations determined by the Government to 

be necessary for construction, operation, and maintenance of the Project and 

Rehabilitation Effort. 

C. As further specified in Article IV, the Sponsor shall contribute, in cash, in-

kind services, or a combination thereof, a contribution toward construction of the 

Rehabilitation Effort in an amount equal to 0 percent of Rehabilitation Effort costs. 

D. The Sponsor shall not use Federal funds to meet its share of Rehabilitation 

Effort costs under this Agreement unless the expenditure of such funds is expressly 

authorized by statute as verified in writing by the Federal granting agency. 

E. The Sponsor shall hold and save the Government free from all damages 

arising from the construction, operation, and maintenance of the Rehabilitation Effort, 

the Project, and any related betterments, except for damages due to the fault or 



4 

negligence of the Government or the Government's contractors. 

F. The Sponsor agrees to continue to participate in and comply with the 

policies and procedures of the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers Rehabilitation and 

Inspection Program and of Title 33, Code of Federal Regulations, Part 208.10 (33 

CFR 208.10). 

G. The Sponsor may request the Government to accomplish betterments. The 

Sponsor shall be solely responsible for any increase in costs resulting from the 

betterments and all such increased costs will be paid in advance by the Sponsor in 

accordance with Article IV. 

ARTICLE III - LANDS, RELOCATIONS, AND PUBLIC LAW 91-646 

A. The Government shall provide the Sponsor with a description of the 

anticipated real estate requirements and relocations for the Rehabilitation Effort. 

Thereafter, the Sponsor shall furnish all lands, easements, and rights-of-way, 

including suitable borrow and dredged or excavated material disposal areas, and 

perform any relocations, as may be determined by the Government in that description, 

or in any subsequent description, to be necessary for the construction, operation, and 

maintenance of the Project and the Rehabilitation Effort. The necessary lands, 

easements, and rights-of-way may be provided incrementally for each construction 

contract. All lands, easements, and rights-of-way determined by the Government to be 

necessary for work to be performed under a construction contract must be furnished 

prior to the advertisement of that construction contract. 

B. The Sponsor shall comply with the applicable provisions of the Uniform 

Relocation Assistance and Real Property Acquisitions Policy Act of 1970, Public Law 

91-646, as amended by Title IV of the Surface Transportation and Uniform Relocation 

Assistance Act of 1987 (Public Law 100-17), and the Uniform Regulations contained 

in 49 CFR Part 24, in acquiring lands, easements, and rights of way, required for 

construction, operation, and maintenance of the Project and the Rehabilitation Effort, 

including those necessary for relocations, borrow materials, and dredged or 

excavated material disposal, and shall inform all affected persons of applicable 



5 

benefits, policies, and procedures in connection with said Act. 

ARTICLE IV - METHOD OF PAYMENT 

A. The Sponsor shall provide, during the period of construction, cash 

payments, in-kind services, or a combination thereof, required to meet the Sponsor's 

obligations under Article II of the Agreement. Rehabilitation Effort costs are currently 

estimated to be $34,400,000 and the Sponsor's share (cash and services in kind) of 

Rehabilitation Effort costs is currently estimated to be $0. In order to meet the 

Sponsor's cash payment requirements, the Sponsor must provide a cash contribution 

estimated to be $0. The dollar amounts set forth in this paragraph are based upon the 

Government's best estimates that reflect projections of costs, price level changes, and 

anticipated inflation. Such cost estimates are subject to adjustments based upon 

costs actually incurred and are not to be construed as the total financial 

responsibilities of the Government and the Sponsor. 

B. The required cash contribution shall be provided as follows: At least ten 

calendar days prior to the award of the first construction contract, the Government 

shall notify the Sponsor of the Sponsor's estimated share of the Rehabilitation Effort 

costs including the Sponsor's estimated share of the costs attributable to the 

Rehabilitation Effort incurred prior to the initiation of construction. Within five calendar 

days thereafter, the Sponsor shall provide the Government the full amount of the 

required contribution by delivering a check payable to "FAO, USAED Mobile (K5)" to 

the Contracting Officer representing the Government. The Government shall draw on 

the funds provided by the Sponsor such sums as the Government deems necessary 

to cover contractual and in-house fiscal obligations attributable to the Rehabilitation 

Effort as they are incurred, as well as Rehabilitation Effort costs incurred by the 

Government. In the event that total Rehabilitation Effort costs are expected to exceed 

the estimate given at the outset of construction, the Government shall immediately 

notify the Sponsor of the additional contribution the Sponsor will be required to make 

to meet the Sponsor's share of the revised estimate. Within ten calendar days 

thereafter, the Sponsor shall provide the Government the full amount of the additional 

required contribution. 



6 

C. During the period of construction, the Government will provide periodic 

financial reports on the status of the total Rehabilitation Effort costs and status of 

contributions made by the Sponsor. Upon completion of the Rehabilitation Effort and 

resolution of all relevant contract claims and appeals, the Government shall compute 

the total Rehabilitation Effort costs and tender to the Sponsor a final accounting of the 

Sponsor's share of total Rehabilitation Effort costs. 

1. In the event the total contribution by the Sponsor is less than the Sponsor's 

required share of total Rehabilitation Effort costs, the Sponsor shall, no later than 90 

calendar days after receipt of written notice, make a cash payment to the Government 

of whatever sum is required to meet the Sponsor's required share of the total project 

costs. 

2. In the event total contribution by the Sponsor is more than the Sponsor's 

required share of total Rehabilitation Effort costs, the Government shall, no later than 

90 calendar days after the final accounting is complete, subject to the availability of 

funds, return the excess to the Sponsor; however, the Sponsor shall not be entitled to 

any refund for in kind services. In the event the existing funds are not available to 

repay the Sponsor for excess contributions provided, the Government shall seek such 

appropriations as are necessary to repay the Sponsor for excess contributions 

provided. 

ARTICLE V - CREDITING OF IN-KIND SERVICES 

The Government has approved a credit for In-Kind Services, compatible with 

the Rehabilitation Effort, in the estimated amount of $0 for implementation of such 

services by the Sponsor. The affording of such credit shall be subject to an onsite 

inspection by the Government to verify that the work was accomplished in a 

satisfactory manner and is suitable for inclusion in the Rehabilitation Effort. The 

actual amount of such credit shall be subject to an audit conducted to determine 

reasonableness, allocability, and allowability of costs. The Government shall apply 

the credit amount toward any additional cash contribution required under this 

Agreement. The Sponsor shall not receive credit for any amount in excess of such 

additional cash contribution, nor shall the Sponsor be entitled to any reimbursement 



7 

for any excess credit amount. 

ARTICLE VI- OPERATION AND MAINTENANCE  

A. The Sponsor maintains responsibility for operating and maintaining the 

Project at all times. After the Contracting Officer has determined that construction of 

the Rehabilitation Effort is complete and provided the Sponsor with written notice of 

such determination, the Sponsor shall operate and maintain the Project, to include 

those areas restored by the Rehabilitation Effort, at no cost to the Government, in 

accordance with specific directions prescribed by the Government in Engineer 

Regulation 500-1-1 and any subsequent amendments thereto and other applicable 

authorities.  

B. The Sponsor hereby gives the Government a right to enter, at reasonable 

times and in a reasonable manner, upon land that the Sponsor owns or controls for 

access to the Project for the purposes of inspection, and, if necessary, for the 

purpose of completing, operating, and maintaining the Project. If an inspection shows 

the Sponsor for any reason is failing to fulfill the Sponsor's obligations under this 

Agreement without receiving prior written approval from the Government, the 

Government will send a written notice to the Sponsor. If, after 30 calendar days from 

receipt of such notice, the Sponsor continues to fail to perform, then the Government 

shall have the right to enter, at reasonable times and in a reasonable manner, upon 

lands the Sponsor owns or controls for access to the Project for the purposes of 

completing, operating, and maintaining the Project, or to deny further assistance 

under Public Law 84-99. No action by the Government shall operate to relieve the 

Sponsor of responsibility to meet the Sponsor obligations as set forth in this 

Agreement, or to preclude the Government from pursuing any other remedy at law or 

equity to assure faithful performance pursuant to this Agreement. 

ARTICLE VII -FEDERAL AND STATE LAWS 

In the exercise of the Sponsor's rights and obligations hereunder, the Sponsor 

agrees to comply with all applicable Federal and state laws and regulations. 



8 

ARTICLE VIII- RELATIONSHIP OF PARTIES 

The Government and the Sponsor act in an independent capacity in the 

performance of their respective functions under this Agreement, and neither party is 

to be considered the officer, agent, nor employee of the other. 

ARTICLE IX -OFFICIALS NOT TO BENEFIT 

No member of or delegate to the Congress, or resident commissioner, shall be 

admitted to any share or part of this Agreement, or to any benefit that may arise 

therefrom. 

ARTICLE X -COVENANT AGAINST CONTINGENT FEES 

The Sponsor warrants that no person or selling agency has been employed or 

retained to solicit or secure this Agreement upon agreement or understanding for a 

commission, percentage, brokerage, or contingent fee, excepting bona fide 

employees or bona fide established commercial or selling agencies maintained by the 

Sponsor for the purpose of securing business. For breach or violation of this 

warranty, the Government shall have the right to annul this Agreement without 

liability, or, in the Government's discretion, to add to the Agreement or consideration, 

or otherwise recover, the full amount of such commission, percentage, brokerage, or 

contingent fee. 

ARTICLE XI- TERMINATION OR SUSPENSION 

If at any time the Sponsor fails to carry out its obligations under this 

Agreement, the District Commander shall terminate or suspend work on the 

Rehabilitation Effort, unless the District Commander determines that continuation of 

work on the Rehabilitation Effort is in the interest of the United States or is necessary 

in order to satisfy agreements with any other nonFederal interests in connection with 

this Rehabilitation Effort and the Project. However, deferral of future performance 

under this agreement shall not affect existing obligations or relieve the parties of 

liability for any obligation previously incurred. In the event that either party elects to 



9 

terminate this Agreement pursuant to this Article, both parties shall conclude their 

activities relating to the rehabilitation Effort and proceed to a final accounting in 

accordance with Article IV of this Agreement. In the event that either party elects to 

defer future performance under this Agreement pursuant to this Article, such deferral 

shall remain in effect until such time as either the Government or Sponsor elects to 

proceed with further construction or terminates this Agreement.  

ARTICLE XII -HAZARDOUS SUBSTANCE 

A. After execution of this Agreement and upon direction by the Contracting 

Officer, the Sponsor shall perform, or cause to be performed, such investigations for 

hazardous substances as are determined necessary by the Government of the 

Sponsor to identify the existence and extent of any hazardous substances regulated 

under the Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation, and Liability Act 

(CERCLA) 42 U.S.C. Sections, 9601-9675, on lands necessary to Rehabilitation Effort 

construction, operation, and maintenance. All actual costs incurred by the Sponsor 

that are properly allowable and allocable to performance of any such investigations for 

hazardous substances shall be included in total Rehabilitation Effort costs and cost 

shared as a construction cost. 

B. In the event it is discovered through an investigation for hazardous 

substances or other means that any lands, easements, rights-of-way, or disposal 

areas to be acquired or provided for the Project or the Rehabilitation Effort contain 

any hazardous substances regulated under CERCLA, the Sponsor and the 

Government shall provide prompt notice to each other, and the Sponsor shall not 

proceed with the acquisition of lands, easements, rights-of-way, or disposal areas 

until mutually agreed. 

C. The Government and the Sponsor shall determine whether to initiate 

construction of the Rehabilitation Effort, or, if already in construction, to continue with 

construction of the Rehabilitation Effort, or to terminate construction of the 

Rehabilitation Effort for the convenience of the Government in any case where 

hazardous substances regulated under CERCLA are found to exist on any lands 

necessary for the Rehabilitation Effort. Should the Government and the Sponsor 



10 

determine to proceed or continue with the construction after considering any liability 

that may arise under CERCLA, the Sponsor shall be responsible, as between the 

Government and the Sponsor, for any and all necessary clean up and response costs, 

to include the costs of any studies and investigations necessary to determine an 

appropriate response to the contamination. Such costs shall not be considered a part 

of the total Rehabilitation Effort costs as defined in this Agreement. In the event the 

Sponsor fails to provide any funds necessary to pay for cleanup and response costs 

or to otherwise discharge the Sponsor's responsibilities under this paragraph upon 

direction by the Government, the Government may either terminate or suspend work 

on the Rehabilitation Effort or proceed with further work as provided in Article X of this 

Agreement. 

D. The Sponsor and Government shall consult with each other to assure that 

responsible parties bear any necessary clean up and response costs as defined in 

CERCLA. Any decision made pursuant to paragraph C of this Article shall not relieve 

any party from any liability that may arise under CERCLA. 

E. As between the Government and the Sponsor, the Sponsor shall be 

considered the operator of the Project (which the Rehabilitation Effort is repairing and 

restoring) for purposes of CERCLA liability. To the maximum extent practicable, the 

Sponsor shall operate and maintain the Project in a manner that will not cause liability 

to arise under CERCLA. 

ARTICLE XIII –NOTICES 

A. All notices, requests, demands, and other communications required or 

permitted to be given under this Agreement shall be deemed to have been duly given 

if in writing and delivered personally, given by prepaid telegram, or mailed by first-

class (postage prepaid), registered, or certified mail, as follows: 

If to the Sponsor: 

Chairman  

Board of County Commissioners of Bay County, Florida  



11 

840 West 11th Street   

Panama City, Florida 32401 

If to the Government: 

District Commander  

U.S. Army Corps of Engineers, Mobile District  

P.O. Box 2288 

Mobile, Alabama 36628-0001 

B. A party may change the address to which such communications are to be 

directed by giving written notice to the other party in the manner provided in this 

Article. 

C. Any notice, request, demand, or other communication made pursuant to 

this Article shall be deemed to have been received by the addressee at such time as it 

is either personally delivered, or, seven calendar days after it is mailed, as the case 

may be. 

IN WITNESS HEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this Agreement, which shall 

become effective upon the date it is signed by the District Commander. 

THE DEPARTMENT OF THE ARMY BOARD OF COUNTY 

COMMISSIONERS OF BAY 

COUNTY, FLORIDA  

BY: _____________________   BY: _____________________ 

Colonel Sebastien P. Joly  Mr. Philip Griff Griffitts 

District Commander  Chairman Board of County 

Mobile District Commissioners 

DATE: ___________________ DATE: ___________________ 



12 

CERTIFICATION REGARDING LOBBYING 

The undersigned certifies, to the best of his or her knowledge and belief that:  

(1) No Federal appropriated funds have been paid or will be paid, by or on behalf 

of the undersigned, to any person for influencing or attempting to influence an officer or 

employee of any agency, a Member of Congress, an officer or employee of Congress, or 

an employee of a Member of Congress in connection with the awarding of any Federal 

contract, the making of any Federal grant, the making of any Federal loan, the entering 

into of any cooperative agreement, and the extension, continuation, renewal, amendment, 

or modification of any Federal contract, grant, loan, or cooperative agreement.  

(2) If any funds other than Federal appropriated funds have been paid or will be 

paid to any person for influencing or attempting to influence an officer or employee of any 

agency, a Member of Congress, an officer or employee of Congress, or an employee of a 

Member of Congress in connection with this Federal contract, grant, loan, or cooperative 

agreement, the undersigned shall complete and submit Standard Form-LLL, "Disclosure 

Form to Report Lobbying," in accordance with its instructions.  

(3) The undersigned shall require that the language of this certification be 

included in the award documents for all subawards at all tiers (including subcontracts, 

subgrants, and contracts under grants, loans, and cooperative agreements) and that all 

subrecipients shall certify and disclose accordingly.  

This certification is a material representation of fact upon which reliance was placed when 

this transaction was made or entered into. Submission of this certification is a prerequisite 

for making or entering into this transaction imposed by 31 U.S.C. 1352. Any person who 

fails to file the required certification shall be subject to a civil penalty of not less than 

$10,000 and not more than $100,000 for each such failure. 

DATED this __________ day of _____________, 2020 

_____________________ 

Mr. Philip Griff Griffitts, Chairman  

Board of County Commissioners  

Bay County, FL



13 

CERTIFICATE OF AUTHORITY 

I, Don Banks and Douglas Sale, do hereby certify that we are the principal legal officers 

of the Board of County Commissioners of Bay County, Florida and the Bay County 

Tourist Development Council, respectively, and that the Board of County 

Commissioners of Bay County, Florida is a legally constituted public body with full 

authority and legal capability to perform the terms of the Agreement between the 

Department of the Army and Bay County, Florida, for itself and on behalf of the Bay 

County Tourist Development Council, an agency of Bay County Florida, in connection 

with the Project, and to pay damages, if necessary, in the event of the failure to 

perform in accordance with the terms of this Agreement, and that the persons who 

have executed this Agreement on behalf of Bay County, Florida have acted within their 

statutory authority. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have made and executed this certification this 

_________day of ____________2020. 

_____________________  _____________________ 

Don Banks    Douglas Sale 

County Attorney   Attorney for TDC 


